IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

REGINALD LEETREZ GILYARD, :

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 83,619

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

.....

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CYNTHIA J. DODGE ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 345172

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 6, 1990, in Case No. 90-9751, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an information against the Appellant, REGINALD GILYARD, charging him with solicitation to purchase cocaine in violation of sections 893.03 and 777.04(2), Florida Statutes (1989). The offense is a third-degree felony and was committed on June 19, 1990.

On January 29, 1991, in Case No. 90-17548, the State filed an information charging the Petitioner with possession of cocaine in violation of section 893.13(1)(f), Florida Statutes (1989). The date of the alleged offense was November 15, 1990.

On March 7, 1991, in Case No. 91-2527, the State filed an information charging the Petitioner with the robbery of Damone Dixon with a firearm and the robbery of Vincent Williams with a firearm in violation of section 812.13(1) and (2)(a), Florida Statutes (1989). The date of the alleged offense was February 4, 1991. On June 13, 1991, in the same case, the State filed a supersedes information which omitted the co-defendant, James Lee Brock.

The State filed a supercedes information in Case No. 91-2535 on May 10, 1991, charging Mr. Gilyard with attempted felony murder with a firearm in violation of sections 777.04 and 782.04(1), Florida Statutes (1989), and robbery with a firearm.

On July 15, 1991, the Petitioner pleaded guilty in all of the above cases. In Case No. 91-2535, the State agreed to enter a

nolle prosequi of the charge of attempted felony murder and reduced the charge of armed robbery to strong armed robbery.

On August 20, 1991, Mr. Gilyard was sentenced by the Honorable Edward H. Ward. In Case No. 91-17548, the court sentenced Mr. Gilyard to four years imprisonment to be followed by one year community control for possession of cocaine. In Case No. 91-2527, the court sentenced the Petitioner on both counts of armed robbery to four years imprisonment, with a three-year minimum mandatory for the firearm, to run concurrently to be followed by one year of community control and one year of probation. The sentence was to run concurrent with the sentences in the other cases. The Petitioner was also ordered to pay a total of \$345 in restitution.

In Case No. 90-9751, the court sentenced Mr. Gilyard for solicitation to purchase cocaine to four years imprisonment, to be followed by one year of community control and one year of probation. In Case No. 91-2535, Mr. Gilyard was sentenced for the lesser included offense of strong arm robbery in Count II. (The state had previously entered a nolle prosequi of the charges in Count I.) In 91-2535, the court sentenced the Petitioner to four years imprisonment followed by one year community control, to be followed by one year probation for strong arm robbery.

The guidelines recommended 4 1/2 to 5 1/2 years imprisonment with a permitted range of 3 1/2 to 7 years imprisonment. The Petitioner filed separate notices of in each case on September 19, 1991.

On April 22, 1994, the Second District Court of Appeal filed an opinion in this case. The district court corrected the sentencing error in Case No. 90-9751 in which Petitioner was sentenced to a total of six years for the third-degree felony, solicitation to purchase cocaine. The court upheld the remainder of Mr. Gilyard's sentence, but certified the following question:

DOES THE RULE IN State v. VanKooten, 522 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1988), APPLY IN THE SITUATION WHERE THE RANGE DOES NOT PROVIDE SANCTIONS PHRASED IN THE DISJUNCTIVE BUT MERELY PROVIDES FOR A TERM OF YEARS?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified question of the Second District Court of Appeal should be answered in the affirmative. The Petitioner's presumptive guidelines range was 3 1/2 to 7 years imprisonment. Such a range does not include community control as an alternative to incarceration. Furthermore, this Court has ruled in State v. VanKooten, 522 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1988), that when the presumptive guidelines sentence directs community control or incarceration, the imposition of both represents a departure from the sentencing guidelines, requiring proper written reasons for the departure. It is also a departure when the presumptive range does not include community control.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

DOES THE RULE IN State v. VanKooten, 522 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1988), APPLY IN THE SITUATION WHERE THE RANGE DOES NOT PROVIDE SANCTIONS PHRASED IN THE DISJUNCTIVE BUT MERELY PROVIDES FOR A TERM OF YEARS?

The Petitioner's sentencing guidelines for these cases recommended 4 1/2 to 5 1/2 years imprisonment with a permitted range of 3 1/2 to 7 years imprisonment. In Case No. 91-2527, the court sentenced the Petitioner on both counts of armed robbery to four years imprisonment, with a three-year minimum mandatory for the firearm, to run concurrently, to be followed by one year of community control and one year of probation.

In Case No. 90-9751, the court sentenced Mr. Gilyard for solicitation to purchase cocaine to four years imprisonment, to be followed by one year of community control and one year of probation. In Case No. 91-2535, Mr. Gilyard was sentenced for strong arm robbery to four years imprisonment followed by one year community control, to be followed by one year probation.

The Florida Supreme Court recently decided in Felty v. State, 630 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1994), that the sentencing guidelines clearly state that the presumptive sentence in the second cell is community control or incarceration, and that the alternatives are mutually exclusive. Any change in this sentencing structure must occur through appropriate legislative and court rule action. The court specifically stated that the holding is not different even if the

combined sentences of imprisonment and community control do not exceed the presumptive range. In <u>Felty</u>, unlike in this case, the defendant's guidelines scoresheet permitted range included community control. In this case the permitted range was 3 1/2 to 7 years imprisonment.

In <u>State v. Davis</u>, 630 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that combining nonstate prison sanctions, county jail time, community control, (and probation), constitute a departure sentence for which written reasons must be given. The <u>Davis</u> court also quotes <u>State v. VanKooten</u>, 522 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1988), saying "that when the presumptive guidelines sentence directs community control or incarceration, the imposition of both represents a departure from the sentencing guidelines, requiring proper written reasons for the departure." <u>Davis</u>. In this case, the presumptive quidelines did not recommend community control.

In this case, the trial court sentenced the Petitioner to state prison, followed by community control, followed by probation. Clearly, this is a departure sentence which must be accompanied by written reasons which were absent in this case. Petitioner also points out to this Court that the total sentence in case no. 91-9751 is six years, which exceeds the statutory maximum for a third-degree felony, which was corrected on appeal to the Second District.

In <u>Skeen v. State</u>, 556 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1990), the trial court sentenced the defendant to two years community control to be followed by ten years probation for a second-degree felony, felon

in possession of a firearm. The defendant argued the stacking of community control and probation was improper. This Court held that community control and probation could be stacked based on the committee noted to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(13), which specifically permits the imposition of a sentence of community control to be followed by probation.

The 1988 Sentencing Guidelines Commission Notes to Rule 3.701(d)(13) state:

Community control is a viable alternative for any state prison sentence less than 24 months without requiring a reason for departure. It is appropriate to impose a sentence of community control to be followed by a term of probation. The total sanction (community control and probation) shall not exceed the term provided by general law....

The committee notes provide that community control is only an alternative to a state prison sentence less than 24 months without requiring a reason for departure. Clearly, the bottom of Petitioner's permitted range of 3 1/2 years is beyond the 24 months for which community control could substitute. Furthermore, the court chose to impose a prison sentence in addition to the community control. The sentences of four years to be followed by one year community control and one year probation was clearly a departure sentence for which no written reasons were provided. For that reason, Petitioner's sentence must be reversed.

CONCLUSION

Based on this Court's decision in <u>VanKooten</u>, the certified question submitted by the Second District Court of Appeal should be answered in the affirmative and Mr. Gilyard's case should be remanded for resentencing.

<u>APPENDIX</u>

		PAGE NO.
l. Second District Opinion filed April	Appeal	A- 1

NOT FINAL UNTIL TIME EXPIRES TO FILE REHEARING MOTION AND, IF FILED, DETERMINED.

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

OF FLORIDA

SECOND DISTRICT

REGINELL LEETREZ GILYARD a/k/a REGINALD LEETREZ GILYARD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case Nos. 91-03068

91-03070

91-03117

91-03119

CONSOLIDATED

Opinion filed April 22, 1994.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County; Edward H. Ward, Judge.

James Marion Moorman, Public Defender, and Cynthia J. Dodge, Assistant Public Defender, Bartow, for Appellant.

Robert A. Butterworth, Attorney General, Tallahassee, and Carol M. Dittmar, Assistant Attorney General, Tampa, for Appellee.

Received By

APR 22 1994

Appellate Division Public Defenders Office

DANAHY, Acting Chief Judge.

In these consolidated appeals we review the sentencing scheme imposed upon the appellant for convictions of possession of cocaine, solicitation to purchase cocaine, strong arm

^{5 893.13(1)(}f), Fla. Stat. (1989) (third degree felony).

² §§ 893.13 and 777.04(2), Fla. Stat. (1989) (third degree felony).

robbery, and two counts of armed robbery. Appellant contends (1) that the sentences for the drug crimes are beyond the statutory maximums for those third-degree felonies and (2) that the sentences imposed for each of the five crimes are illegal under State v. VanKooten, 522 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1988). We agree with the first contention but not the second. Accordingly, we affirm in part and reverse in part.

In Case No. 90-03068 and in Case No. 90-03119, the appellant was convicted of possession of cocaine and solicitation to purchase cocaine respectively. These crimes are third-degree felonies which carry a statutory maximum of five years. For these convictions the trial court imposed concurrent terms of four years' incarceration, followed by one year community control, followed by one year probation, for a total punishment of six years. This is clearly beyond the statutory maximum and cannot stand. State v. Holmes, 360 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1978).