IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

REGINALD LEETREZ GILYARD,

Petitioner,

v.

83,619 CASE NO.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RON NAPOLITANO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 130175 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

 $\mathbb{S}^{(p)}$

E.S.

CLEAK SUPREME COUNT

Cliffer Deputy Clork

RN/pjf

ISSUE
DOES THE RULE IN STATE v. VANKOOTEN, 522 SO.2D 830 (FLA. 1988), APPLY IN THE SITUATION WHERE THE SENTENCING RANGES SPECIFIED BY THE GUIDELINES DOES NOT PROVIDE FOR SANCTIONS PHRASED IN THE DISJUNCTIVE BUT MERELY PROVIDES FOR A TERM OF YEARS? (RESTATED)
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

PAGE NO.

- i -

TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE	NO.
------	-----

<u>Felty v. State</u> , 630 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 1994)3								
<u>Gilyard v. State</u> , 19 Fla. Law Weekly (d)809, n.6 (Fla. 2d DCA, April 22, 1994)3								
<u>State v. Davis</u> , 630 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1994)3								
<u>VanKooten v. State</u> , 522 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1988)3								
OTHER_AUTHORITIES								

Fla.	R.	Crim.	Pro	3.70	1(d)	(13)	• • •	••••	• • •		• • •	••	•••	•••	••	•••	2	?
Rule	3.	701(d)	(13)	• • • •	• • • •		• • •		•••	•••	•••	••	•••		•••		4	ł

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent submits that Petitioner's Statement of the case and Facts is accurate except for one allegation of fact. The Second District Court of Appeals reversed the sentences in both case 90-3068 (possession of cocaine) and case 90-3119 (Solicitation to purchase cocaine) for being beyond the statutory maximum of 5 years for third degree felonies.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified question of the Second District Court of Appeals should be answered in the negative. The case law relied defense is factually distinguishable. The by the upon prohibition against combining incarceration with community control sanctions is only prohibited in instances where the sentencing guidelines recommend a sentence of community control "or" incarceration. In the instant case, the quidelines sentencing recommendation were: Recommended range: $4 \ 1/2 \ - \ 5 \ 1/2$ and a Permitted Range of 3 1/2 - 7 years imprisonment. Since there is no guidelines requirement that the court chose between what this court has termed to be "mutually exclusive" sentencing options, the sentences imposed in the instant case do not constitute departure sentences requiring written reasons.

The sentence imposed does not conflict with the committee note to Fla. R. Crim. Pro 3.701(d)(13) which requires written reasons if community control is imposed as an "alternative" to a prison sentence greater than 24 months because the state community control portion of the sentence was not imposed as an "alternative" to guidelines sentencing range of a minimum of 3 1/2 years but sentence of was imposed consecutive to a imprisonment. Furthermore, since the sentence imposed is within the incarceration period required by the guidelines but is less than the maximum state prison time available to the court, it is difficult to consider such a sentence a departure sentence.

- 2 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

DOES THE RULE IN STATE v. VANKOOTEN, 522 SO.2D 830 (FLA. 1988), APPLY IN THE SITUATION WHERE THE SENTENCING RANGES SPECIFIED BY THE GUIDELINES DOES NOT PROVIDE FOR SANCTIONS PHRASED IN THE DISJUNCTIVE BUT MERELY PROVIDES FOR A TERM OF YEARS? (RESTATED)

The rule enunciated in VanKooten v. State, 522 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1988) and further amplified in State v. Davis, 630 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1994) and Felty v. State, 630 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 1994) is not applicable to the instant case. All of these cases, upon which the Petitioner relies, are factually distinguishable. All of these cases involved defendants whose sentencing guidelines provided for imposition of "community control "or" 12 to 30 months incarceration" (VanKooten); a recommended range of "community control or 12 to 30 months incarceration " and a permitted range of "any nonstate prison sanction or one to 3 1/2 years incarceration" (Davis); and "community control or one to twelve years incarceration (Felty). See Gilyard v. State, 19 Fla. Law Weekly (d)809, n.6 (Fla. 2d DCA, April 22, 1994). This court reasoned in all these cases that the language of the sentencing guidelines by use of the word "or" meant that the sentencing alternatives were mutually exclusive.

In the instant case the sentencing guidelines provides for a recommended sentencing range of 4 1/2 to 5 1/2 years and a permitted range of 3 1/2 to 7 years (R182). As the Second District Court of Appeals reasoned:

- 3 -

"Thus, the limitations on the court's sentencing authority presented by language phrased in the disjunctive, as in <u>VanKooten</u>, <u>Collins</u>, <u>Davis</u>, and <u>Felty</u>, are absent here. Since the sentencing court in the case before us had no <u>VanKooten</u> issue limiting it, it did not err in sentencing the Petitioner as it did." Gilyard, Id.

Petitioner argues that imprisonment and community are mutually exclusive options relying upon the 1988 Sentencing Guidelines Committee note to Rule 3. 701(d)(13) which provides:

> "Community control is a viable alternative for any state prison sentence less than twenty-four (24) months without requiring a reason for departure. It is appropriate to impose a sentence of community control to be followed by a term of probation. The total sanction (community control and probation) shall not exceed the term provided by general law."

Petitioner argues that since the bottom of the permitted range applicable to him is 3 1/2 years, this is beyond the 24 months for which community control could be substituted and is therefore a departure sentence requiring a written reason. Respondent submits that this argument lacks judicial merit in the instant case. Petitioner was not sentenced to community control as an "alternative" to a state prison sentence. He was sentenced to consecutive sanctions of 4 1/2 years imprisonment followed by 1 year community control followed by 1 year probation. The community control portion of his sentence was not a substitute for the minimum sentence 3 1/2 years imprisonment but was in addition to it. Since the community control portion of his

- 4 -

sentence was not substituted for the minimum 3 1/2 years required by the guidelines, it was not a departure sentence requiring written reasons pursuant to the committee note explaining 3.701(d)(13).

Since the sentence imposed is not the type of mutually exclusive sentencing alternatives prohibited by the guidelines as interpreted in <u>VanHooten</u>, <u>Davis</u>, and <u>Felty</u>, it is not a departure from the guidelines requiring written reasons. Furthermore, since the state imprisonment portion of the sentence imposed is within terms provided by the guidelines and yet less than the maximum incarceration that could have been imposed both under the recommended range and the permitted range, it is difficult , if not impossible, to consider the combined sanctions as being a departure sentence.

- 5 -

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, the certified question should be answered in the negative.